EBENEZER WELSH CALVINISTIC METHODISTCHAPEL, KINGSLAND ROAD, HOLYHEAD
                                                                                                                                         NPRN 8682

The first chapel on this site was erected in 1850 and enlarged in 1859-60.  The chapel remodelled internally c.1880.  It is clear from the large-scale Ordnance Survey maps that other alterations and additions took place between the 1880s and 1912.  The first edition (1880) shows a building with a frontage 12.5m. wide, set about 1.5m. back from the road boundary, and approximately 20m. long.  Attached to the western end of the north side is another building, presumably a vestry or schoolroom.  By the date of the second edition (1901) the main chapel occupies the same footprint but the annexe has been extended to the north and the curtilage has been extended to the east and to the north, where a manse and stable block have been erected.  By 1912 the chapel has adopted its present footprint which, at 18m. overall, 14.5m. for the body of the chapel, is slightly wider than previously, and the building is set back from the road boundary by some 5m., with a corresponding movement of the rear, western wall.  There have been some additions to the schoolroom and the curtilage has been extended on the south side.  The modern map shows that the cartilage has been extended again on the eastern side since 1912, from 30m. to about 39m., to accommodate a single-storey extension to the schoolroom/vestry.

Exterior. 

The chapel is of gable-entry type, rectangular in plan with projecting stair wings.  The style is classical.  The main façade faces east and it and the elevations of the stair wings are of coursed grey stone blocks with Bath stone dressings.  The reminder of the side elevations and the rear elevation are pebble-dashed.  The roof is of slate. 

The main façade is a three-unit design with the central unit pedimented and consisting at first-floor level, of three-bays, separated by Doric pilasters.  The central bay is wider and has a large round-headed window with a pair of round-headed lights; the side bays have lower round-headed windows containing single lights.  At ground-floor level, the wall is faced with channelled Bath stone and has a pair of central doorways beneath a pediment, flanked each side by a square-headed window.  A plaque from the original chapel `Ebenezer 1850 MC¿ is affixed to one of the door pillars.  The pediment has dentilled decoration on both the bottom and raking cornices and iis topped by a scroll-handled urn.  The outer bays have a single square-headed lights in Bath stone architraves on the ground floor, and a pair of tall, narrow lights lighting the stair wells. Above is a three-piece blank arcade parapet linking corner tabernacles to the central section, the parapet rails topped by stone scrolls.

The side elevation of the stair wings has pairs of lights within a plain Bath stone architrave at both ground and first floor levels, the latter being taller.  The remainder of the side elevation is of four bays with square-headed windows at ground floor level and round-headed at first.  The rear elevation is blank.  The ridge is topped by a centrally placed ventilator in the form of a complex dome.

The east boundary of the site, in front of the chapel, consists of cast-iron railings on a low, rendered, slate-slab topped wall, with stone gate pillars with carved pyramidal stone caps and cast-iron gates.

Attached to the north side of the chapel is a schoolroom.  The room is single storey, but with a curious, very cramped two-storey section at the west end.  This may be a later addition as the first floor is accessed only from the later extension.  The schoolroom is gabled and rendered, with raised surrounds to windows and doorways in cement and a slate roof.  A small gabled porch is flanked by tall, square-headed windows, with above, a small, basic Venetian-style window.  The side elevation has square-headed sash windows.  To the rear is a later extension (post-1912), single storey, rendered, with paired square-headed sash windows and a slate roof.    

Interior.

The twin doorways lead into a vestibule.  A further pair of doorways leads into the main body of the chapel, end doors lead to the wide dog-leg staircases up to the gallery.  Stained glass windows are inserted in the screen wall between the vestibule and the chapel.  The pews on the ground floor are, unusually for this late date, boxed.  The central block consists of ten rows separated by a mid-feather partition, with additional pews at the front around the organ consul.  Aisles separate this block from the side pews, which are angled towards the pulpit and also consist of ten rows.  The floor under these three blocks is slightly raked from the vestibule down towards the pulpit.  Beyond the central pews, on a raised dais, is a corralled Sedd Fawr and against the rear wall beneath a high halo arch in semi-relief, the pulpit.  This is accessed from either side by a curved stair.  The pulpit, together with the Sedd Fawr rails are particularly well executed examples of craftsmanship,  contrasting with the plainness of the pews, and they may well be of an earlier date.  The Sedd Fawr is flanked on each side by further pews in two blocks: a single block of four rows, against the rear wall, and a double block of unequal halves, again of four rows, separated by a mid-feather partition.  These pews face the pulpit.  The aisle between the pews on the north side of the chapel gives access to a door into the schoolroom. The gallery front is supported by nine cast-iron columns with Corinthian style upper halves and barley sugar-twist lowers.  The columns are placed particularly awkwardly in relation to the pew benches and this and the asymmetric angle of the pew ends on the north side to accommodate the aisle to the schoolroom suggest that the pew arrangement is a revision of the original, probably dating from the internal rebuilding of 1880; the pulpit and Sedd Fawr may however, date from the earlier arrangement.  

The front of the gallery is faced in alternating wide and narrow panels with indented rectangular borders, the narrow ones projecting forwards and infilled with a richly carved pattern.  The dentilled decoration of the façade pediment is repeated here.  The gallery runs along the north, east and south sides and the front is curved at the corners.  This floor is reached through doors towards the east end of the long walls.  The pews are open but most blocks have mid-feather partitions and each row is stepped down from the outer walls inwards.  The western ends of the gallery sides are occupied by the organ pipes; this arrangement may date from the internal refurbishment of 1880.  A central block of six pews occupies the east end.  On either side a block of three follows the curve of the gallery corner and these are supplemented by three rows of dog-legged pews to the rear, catering for the partial intrusion of the stairwells into the building corner.  Along each long side of the gallery is a block of three pews with mid-feather partition, with a smaller block of three next to the organ pipes.  Further seating is provided by plain benches along the side walls and across the east wall.

The ceiling is flat except above the windows in the east wall, where it is higher and coved.  In the centre is a large central vent rose surrounded by four medallions, all enclosed in a large circle.  Similar medallions are in the corners and above the pulpit.  A smaller vent rose is in the raised part above the east window.

A short cross-wing links the chapel to the schoolroom and as well as containing the connecting passage, also incorporates the minister¿s room.  The schoolroom has a raised lectern at its west end.  A door at the south end of the west wall leads into the later extension.

The precise evolution of this chapel is unclear.  It is possible that the building shown on the First Edition OS is substantially incorporated in the present structure.  There is certainly evidence that the interior of the present building has been altered; it is difficult to believe that some of the idiosyncrasies were designed in, and the access to the schoolroom suggests that this at least dates from an early period.  There remains the problem with the position, size and shape of the present building in relation to the earlier one.  It would appear that if the carcass of the earlier building was reused as the remodelled interior suggests, then it was substantially altered, probably re-fronted with stair wings added, and extended at the back.  The date of any such alterations is however, at present unknown.  
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